
    
 

BOULDER PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT 
-SPECIAL MEETING- 
Tuesday, April 30, 2024 

Boulder Public Library, Canyon Meeting Room 
1001 Arapahoe Ave, Boulder CO  

and 
Via Zoom 
6:00 p.m. 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://tinyurl.com/yckjjw7v 

 
Board of Trustees Term Expiration 
Benita Duran 2028 
Jennifer Yee 2028 
Sylvia Wirba 2027 
Doug Hamilton 
Cara O’Brien 
Sam Fuqua 

2027 
2026 
2025 

  
Follow link to review long range agenda planning document. 

 
AGENDA 

1. Call to Order and Declaration of Quorum 

2. Public Comment 

3. Consider approval of minutes of April 2, 2024 

4. Library Policies Review 

a. Second review and finalization of finance policies initially reviewed on April 2 and April 16 

5. Director Updates (oral) 
 

6. Boulder Library Foundation Updates 
 

7. Trustee Matters  
a. Update from Trustee Selection Process (Hamilton and Duran)  

i. Joint Meeting with Trustees and County and City present update from Library Staff (tentatively set for July)  
b. Library Director Evaluation Process (Duran) 
c. Update on NoBO Library Meeting (Fuqua and Hamilton) 
d. NoBo Speaker  
e. Advanced Planning Agenda (Hamilton) 
f. Retreat 

i. Library Trends  
ii. Strategy  

iii. Budget  
 

8. Legal Counsel Updates 
 

9. Executive Session: Gunbarrel Lease and Library Director contract  
Upon motion, the Board may move into executive session to discuss personnel matters as allowed by  
Section 24-6-402 (4) (f) and contract negotiations as allowed by Section 24-6-402 (4) (e) concerning  
the executive director's contract and the Gunbarrel Lease. 

10. Adjournment 
NEXT MEETING:  Tuesday, May 14, 2024 

1

https://boulderlib.sharepoint.com/:w:/s/BPLDTrustees/EblmNecQDZ9HjSGDyWl3SkYBPyKXorDIGgNRn_GWUTiMIA


   
 RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 

OF THE 
 

BOULDER PUBLIC LIBRARY DISTRICT 
 

Held: Tuesday, April 2, 2024, at 6:00 p.m. at the Meadows Branch Library, 4800 Baseline Road, Boulder, 
Colorado 
Person preparing summary: Celia Seaton 
The meeting of the Board of Trustees of the Boulder Public Library District was called and held as shown above 
in accordance with the statutes of the State of Colorado. The following Trustees, having confirmed their 
qualifications to serve on the Board, were in attendance:  
                            Katharine (Joni) Teter 
                            Sylvia Wirba 
                            Benita Duran  
                            Cara O’Brien 
                            Sam Fuqua 
                            Jennifer Yee  
                             
 
Also present were Kim J. Seter, Esq. from Seter & Vander Wall, P.C.; David Farnan, Director of the Boulder 
Public Library; Jennifer Phares, Deputy Director of the Boulder Public Library; and Chris Barge, Executive 
Director of the Boulder Public Library Foundation. 
 
 
Members of the public present: None. 
 
Type of Meeting:  Special 
Agenda Item 1:  Call to order                                                                                                 
Trustee Teter called the meeting to order at 6:02 p.m. noting that a sufficient number of appointed trustees 
were present to create a quorum authorized to act on behalf of the District. 
                                                                               
Agenda Item 2: Public comment                                                                                        
None. 
 
Agenda Item 3:  Consider Approval of Minutes of February 20, 2024 

a. Following motion from Trustee Wirba and second from Trustee Yee, the February 20, 2024 minutes 
were approved unanimously.  
 

Agenda Item 4: Library Policies Review 
a. Finance Policy Packet Part I – In Teter’s view, the larger umbrella of library policy can be divided into 

public-facing patron policy, board-related governance policy, and staff-related administrative policy.  In 
her estimation, several items from the finance packet fall into this third designation; she suggests that 
after review, these more procedure-related items (such as purchasing card policy) could be modified by 
the Director and staff without board approval.  The board’s focus would be on policy at the level of 
Director and above.  In response to Duran’s inquiry, Teter noted her observation of this division 
between policy and procedure among other library districts. 

2



Phares presented on the initial set of documents pertaining to Asset Management, Audit, Annual 
Budget, Debt or Long-Term Financial Obligation, Purchasing, and Purchasing Card; a secondary packet 
will be reviewed at the April 16 meeting.     

Teter and Wirba performed a comprehensive review of peer district policies along with staff.  Phares 
noted that especial attention was given to those of Garfield County Library District, as the Auditor had 
preferred their guidelines.   

The group discussed whether the formation of an audit committee would serve as a benefit or a 
duplication of effort, considering the established process of each Trustee interfacing with the firm 
representatives.  It was clarified that the document being currently discussed refers to a committee 
which helps manage and facilitate the selection and hiring of the Auditor.  Wirba recommended 
adjusting the language to state that the District Board of Trustees works with the Library Director or 
their designee to initiate the process; in this way, the Board will retain the option to form a committee 
if desired.  Athe group agreed that all references to “committee” will be modified to reflect “board.”   

Seter clarified that the “annual budget message” to be delivered at the end of January to county and 
city refers to the statutory requirement set by the Colorado Department of Local Affairs (DOLA), and 
not to a press release.  He explained details around the mandatory publishing of the proposed budget 
in the fall, and the group agreed to add language around the approval of the budget and associated 
deadlines, as well as notice to the public once the budget is approved.   

Phares will incorporate the feedback and return with tracked and clean versions at the April 30 
meeting for a final review.  

Agenda Item 5: Governance 
a. Determine schedule and method for evaluation of Executive Director

i. Discussion of job description, compensation, and contract – Personnel Committee
members Yee and Fuqua reminded the group to send in the evaluation responses by
April 5.  Review of the contract is on the April 16 agenda.  Duran volunteered to work
on the first draft of the updated job description.

In response to Duran’s inquiry, Fuqua provided his understanding that the Personnel
Committee’s role involves receiving, compiling, and summarizing the submitted
evaluation forms.  He suggested that a group conversation with the Director be the
vehicle of delivery for the review.  Seter has observed these types of performance
reviews held as executive sessions and recommended the Board hold such at the May
14 meeting; he will send out the confidential documentation to the Board prior to the
meeting by email.

b. Proposed changes to Board of Trustees handbook – Teter led discussion with the group around the
tracked changes to this document as indicated in the packet, further refining the language.  Phares will
update the piece outlining the staff organizational structure.  A revised draft will be reviewed at an
upcoming meeting.

Agenda Item 6: Director’s Report 
Farnan spoke from Columbus, Ohio, where a contingent of BPLD staff attended the Public Library Association’s 
2024 conference.  Staff successfully constructed the “remarkable” ski-lodge styled lounge area which was 
previously created onsite at the BLDG61 Makerspace – this space has attracted conference attendees from all 
over the country to commune and relax in between sessions.  

He lauded the Trustees for their impetus to purchase from local and state sources and agreed to prioritize such 
3

https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/04.02.24-Special-Meeting-Packet.pdf


   

 
 
 
 
 

Attestation 

while procuring certain contracts (e.g., snow removal, marketing consultant).  However, he highlighted the 
challenge within the current publishing industry, whose profit margins have been “shockingly” high.  Print and 
digital media trends can result in a “complicated formula” which makes it impractical or impossible to “purchase 
local.”  
 
In a financial update, Farnan reported that two new CDs were processed per the discussion at the previous 
meeting.   
 
The Selection Committee will be meeting on Friday, April 5 to finalize the recommendations for the 4-year and 
5-year seats.  The next step is a vote by the Council and County Commissioners, with a 2/3 majority needed in 
each to ratify the selection.  Farnan and Seaton are creating an orientation process to onboard the two new 
Trustees in May, before they are sworn in on May 14.   
 
Farnan reported that Facilities Manager Andres Melendez has now acquired an electric vehicle for the Library; 
he is just waiting for the registration.   
 
Agenda Item 7: Boulder Library Foundation Update 
Barge announced that the table sales are going well for the upcoming fundraiser gala.  BLF is finalizing its audit, 
which will be a regular occurrence going forward.  Barge is in the process of hiring a full-time administrative 
assistant.  New board members are currently being recruited; he welcomed recommendations.   
 
Agenda Item 8: Trustee Matters 

a. Public Correspondence – see packet.   
  
Agenda Item 9: Legal Counsel Updates 
See handouts. 
   
Agenda Item 10: Adjournment                                                                                             
There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was adjourned at approximately 7:42 
p.m. 

4

https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/04.02.24-Special-Meeting-Packet.pdf
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/Handouts-4.2.2024-Status-Report-on-SB-24-049-The-Banning-Bill-Defeated-in-Committee-00727624xC440A.pdf


April 26, 2024 

To:   Boulder Public Library District Board of Trustees 

From:   David Farnan, Execu�ve Library Director 

  Jennifer Phares, Director of Business and Administra�on 

Subject:   Library Finance Policy Final Review 

Introduc�on: The Board of Trustees reviewed and gave staff feedback on several dra� policy and 
procedure documents during the April 2 and 16, 2024 board mee�ngs.  

Finance Policies:  

The final dra� finance policies were consolidated into one document (Atachment A). The Board’s 
recommended changes were incorporated into each policy. The changes are tracked except for 
forma�ng. 

Advice from Kim Seter was not received in �me for the April 30, 2024 mee�ng packet about the 
Purchasing Policy sec�on I, part B. This part is highlighted and will be revised as directed by Seter and 
the Board during the April 30, 2024 board mee�ng. 

Requested Board Ac�on: 

Staff requests the Board’s final review, input and approval of the finance polices at the April 30, 2024 
board mee�ng.  

Next Steps: 

• The approved Finance Policies will be translated into Spanish. The English and Spanish versions 
will be posted on the library policies webpage. 

• Staff is collec�ng other examples of library district investment policies and will consult with Kim 
Seter and the finance subcommitee on the dra� investment policy before it is presented to the 
Board at a future mee�ng. 

 

5

https://boulderlibrary.org/about/rules


1 

Boulder Public Library District 
Finance Policies 

Contents 

Asset Management Policy ............................................................................................................. 2 

Audit Policy .................................................................................................................................. 5 

Budget Policy ............................................................................................................................... 6 

Debt and Long-Term Financial Obligation Policy ............................................................................ 9 

Purchasing Policy ....................................................................................................................... 11 

Travel and Business Meal Policy .................................................................................................. 15 

ATTACHMENT A

6



   
 

2 
 

Asset Management Policy 
I. Purpose   

The purpose of the Asset Management Policy is to assist the Boulder Public Library District (District) 
to effectively supervise, monitor and evaluate its investment in capital assets and control non-
capitalized inventory.  

II. Background   

On November 8, 2022, electors who resided or owned private property and/or businesses in the city 
of Boulder and areas in Boulder County that are within the District  boundary approved the 
formation of the Boulder Public Library District and  funds  operation and capital costs  revenues 
generated by a 3.5 mill property tax.    

III. Capital Asset Reporting 
   

A. Asset Classifications - The following are the classifications of capital assets. 
1. Land   
2. Land Improvements   
3. Buildings and improvements   
4. Leasehold improvements   
5. Library Materials   
6. Furniture, Fixtures, Equipment, Computer Software   
7. Works of art and historical treasures   
8. Vehicles   
9. Other assets   

 
B. Valuing Capital Assets   

Capital assets built or acquired by the District will be recorded at historical cost, including ancillary 
costs necessary to place the assets in their intended location and condition of use. Ancillary costs 
include freight charges, site preparation, appraisal fees, and legal claims directly attributable to the 
asset's acquisition. Donated capital assets are recorded at the estimated fair value of the assets at 
the time of donation. If historical cost is unavailable after a search of applicable records, an 
estimate of the original cost using current replacement costs discounted by appropriate price 
indices will be used.  

IV. Capitalization Thresholds   

For the purchase or construction of new assets, the following capitalization thresholds will be used 
to determine if the asset should be capitalized. 

 

 

  

ATTACHMENT A

7



   
 

3 
 

Type of Asset Capitalization Threshold 

Land All purchases, regardless of 
cost 

Land Improvements $50,000  
Buildings and 

improvements $50,000  

Leasehold Improvements $50,000  

Library Materials All purchases, regardless of 
cost 

Furniture, Fixtures, 
Equipment, Computer 

Software 
$5,000  

Works of art and historical 
Treasures $5,000  

Vehicles $5,000 

 

Note – According to a Colorado Revised Statute (C.R.S.) requirement all assets more than $5,000 in 
value must be tracked, except for library materials.  

For expenditures related to repair, remodeling, or expansion of an existing capital asset, the District 
must determine if the expenditure increased the capacity, operating efficiency or extended the 
useful life of the asset. The thresholds identified above shall be used to capitalize repair, 
remodeling, or expansion expenditures. Expenditures that only serve to restore a capital asset to a 
working condition or do not enhance or extend the useful life should be recorded as repair and 
maintenance expense and should not be capitalized. Documentation to support what constitutes 
an enhancement or useful life extension will be maintained in the finance system.  

V. Estimated Useful Life   

The following are guidelines for estimating the useful life of assets. These guidelines may be used 
when calculating depreciation expenses if there is no other supportable estimate. Supporting 
documentation for determining the estimated useful life include engineering studies, 
documentation in the records of similar assets, and actual experience. 

Type of Asset Useful Life 
Land N/A 

Land Improvements 20 years 
Buildings 20 to 40 years 

Leasehold Improvements 
Lesser of estimated life of 
assets or the term of the 

lease 

Library Materials 6 years 

ATTACHMENT A

8



   
 

4 
 

Furniture, Fixtures, 
Equipment, Computer 

Software 
3 to 10 years 

Works of art and historical 
Treasures N/A 

Vehicles 5 to 8 years 

 

VI. Depreciation Guidelines   

All exhaustible capital assets shall be depreciated by the straight-line method using the estimated 
useful life from chart above or other sources for which documentation will be retained. Assets 
purchased before July 1 of the fiscal year shall be capitalized as of January 1 and one full-year 
depreciation recorded. Assets purchased on or after July 1 of the fiscal year will be capitalized as of 
December 31 and no depreciation calculated until the next fiscal year.  

Capitalization of library materials will be calculated at the end of each fiscal year by the inventory of 
collection by classification (adult, reference, children, young adult and audio/visual) and 
multiplying each classification by the estimated replacement cost for that item. The value will be 
removed from Capital Assets before depreciation. Depreciation for library materials will be figured 
in the subsequent year if depreciation is figured on collection.  

VII. Control of Non-Capitalized Assets   

An annual inventory of all real and personal property with original cost > $5,000 must be conducted 
regardless of whether the asset is capitalized (C.R.S. 29-1-506).  

  

ATTACHMENT A

9

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0NN-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-506&context=1000516


   
 

5 
 

Audit Policy 
I. Purpose 

In accordance with Colorado Revised Statute (C.R.S. 29-1-603), the Boulder Public Library District 
(District) will have a cer�fied public accoun�ng firm conduct an annual independent audit. 

II. Process 
 

A. Statements: Annual audited financial statements will be prepared in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accoun�ng Principles (GAAP). The statements will show the financial posi�on and 
results of opera�on for each of the District’s funds and include a comparison of actual to 
budgeted figures for each fund for which a budget has been adopted (C.R.S. 29-1-605). 

B. Reports: An annual audited financial report is submited to the Board of Trustees by June (C.R.S. 
29-1-605). The report will include: 

1.  The annual audited financial statements.  
2. The opinion of the auditor.  
3. Full disclosure by the auditor of viola�ons of state or local law iden�fied during the audit 

process. 
C. One copy of the audit will be filed with the state auditor by June 30. 
D. If applicable, the District will request a filing extension submited to the Colorado State Auditor 

by July 31.  Granted extensions will not exceed 60 days (C.R.S. 29-1-605). 
 

III.  Responsibilities 

A. The Board of Trustees, working with the  Library Director or their designee, will initiate a 
formal Request for Proposal (RFP) process every three years, at a minimum, to acquire 
the services of an auditor.  

B. The Board will participate in the evaluation of submitted proposals, conduct interviews 
if necessary, andselect a certified public accounting firm.  The contract for audit services 
will be for one year and may be renewed pending the annual approval of  the Board of 
Trustees. 

C. The Board of Trustees will approve the selection of a certified public accountant or 
partnership of certified public accounts,  at the close of each fiscal year. 

D. The Finance Manager is responsible for preparing a working trial balance, 
documentation to support financial records, contracts, bank confirmations, and any 
additional schedules or information necessary to complete the audit.  

E. The Finance Manager will also be responsible for the production work necessary to 
complete the final audit report. 
 

  

ATTACHMENT A

10

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/637R-WFH3-CH1B-T44K-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-603&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0NW-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-605&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0NW-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-605&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0NW-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-605&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0NW-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-605&context=1000516


   
 

6 
 

Budget Policy 
     

I. Purpose    

This policy defines the Boulder Public Library District (District) annual budget process when 
revenues are appropriated to meet the operating and capital project goals for the upcoming year. 
Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S.) dictate the Board of Trustee activities and decisions related to  
developing and overseeing the annual operating and capital budget for the District.   

II. Background    

On November 8, 2022, electors who resided or owned private property and/or businesses in the city 
of Boulder and areas in Boulder County that are within the District  boundary approved the 
formation of the Boulder Public Library District and the funding  of operation and capital costs from 
revenues generated by a 3.5 mill property tax. 

III. Mill Levy Certification    

The District is required to deliver a Certification of Tax Levies of all property tax revenues it will 
collect for the upcoming year such as general operating and refunds/abatements to the Boulder 
County Treasurer by December 15th each year.      

IV. Appropriation of Funds and Adoption of Budget    
V. The Board of Trustees adopts by resolution a fiscal plan and the annual budget and any 

subsequent budget adjustments for the District for the following year. Adoption of the 
resolution gives the Board legal authority to appropriate and expend funds and constitutes 
the legal spending limit for the following year. Annual Budget Calendar 

See page 2.  

ATTACHMENT A

11



   
 

7 
 

  

Boulder Public Library District Annual Budget Calendar 
Date Item Description 

January 1 Budget Year Beginning of new fiscal year.    

January 31 Statutory Deadline Submission of the District budget, all resolutions, and 
the budget message to the Department of Local Affairs 
(DOLA) C.R.S. 29-1-113 (1). 

June through 
August 

BPLD Annual Budget Budget process begins in June and runs through August. 

August 25 Statutory Requirement 
– Certification of 
Valuations 

County Assessor provides Preliminary Certification of 
Valuations to BPLD C.R.S. 39-5-128 (1). 

September Board Finance 
Committee Meeting 

Prepares and submits the first draft budget to Board of 
Trustees. 

October 15 Statutory Deadline – 
Delivery of Final Draft 
Budget 

• Final draft budget is delivered to Board of Trustees 
C.R.S. 29-1-105.  

• A no�ce is published in the newspaper and copies 
of the dra� budget are made available to the public 
C.R.S. 29-1-108 (1). 

• The Board holds a public hearing for the dra� 
budget.  

Early November Public Hearing for the 
BPLD Budget and Board 
meeting for the Board’s 
consideration to 
approve the budget.  

• The Board considers approval of the budget at a 
Board meeting following the budget public hearing. 

December 10 Statutory Requirement 
– Amended Certification 
of Valuation 

Amended Certification(s) of Value for property tax 
revenue due from Boulder County Treasurer. 

December 15 Statutory Deadline* - 
Final resolutions to 
approve the BPLD 
Budget and set and 
certify mill levy. 

• Final resolutions to:  
o Approve the BPLD Budget and the 

appropriation of funds giving the Board the 
legal authority to expend the appropriated 
funds C.R.S. 29-1-108 (2). 

o Set and certify mill levy. Certification of tax 
levy due to Boulder County Board of 
County Commissioners C.R.S. 39-5-128 (1) 
and C.R.S. 32-1-1201. 

ATTACHMENT A

12

https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0MC-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-113&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/633G-KFH3-GXJ9-346D-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2039-5-128&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0M3-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-105&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0M6-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-108&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0M6-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-108&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WWT1-DYDC-J0M6-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2029-1-108&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/633G-KFH3-GXJ9-346D-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2039-5-128&context=1000516
https://advance.lexis.com/api/document/collection/statutes-legislation/id/61P5-WXC1-DYDC-J35P-00008-00?cite=C.R.S.%2032-1-1201&context=1000516


   
 

8 
 

• A no�ce is published in the newspaper and copies 
of the final budget are made available to the public.  

 
*Failure of the District to meet this deadline will result in the District’s receipt of only 90% of the 
requested funding appropriation for the following year. 
  

  

ATTACHMENT A

13



   
 

9 
 

Debt and Long-Term Financial Obligation Policy 
I. Purpose    

This policy defines the Boulder Public Library District’s (District) practices related to taking on debt 
or entering long-term financial obligations. Debt is an important tool for acquiring or constructing 
capital assets including land, buildings, machinery, and equipment. 

II. Issuance of Debt    

When making the decision to take on debt or enter a long-term financial obligation, the Board of 
Trustees will consider an appropriate balance between the needed flexibility to achieve operational 
goals  as these pertain to the annual capital budget, operating budget, and financial plan. Debt or 
long-term financial obligations are taken on after thorough consideration of legal financing options 
and it is determined that the debt can be paid, or the obligation met within the terms and on a 
timely basis.   

III. Purpose of Debt    

Debt and other long-term financial obligations will be issued in accordance with Colorado State 
Statues (C.R.S.), and if required, will be approved by registered, qualified voters of the District. It is 
only to be incurred for financing capital assets that, because of their long-term nature or because 
of budgetary restraints, cannot be acquired by expenditure of current revenues, budgeted 
resources, or appropriated reserves. Any debt issued shall not have a maturity date beyond the 
useful life of the asset being acquired or constructed by the debt proceeds.    

Issuance of debt should not be used to finance current operating expenses. There must also be 
sufficient revenues projected to meet ongoing debt payments.   

IV. Types of Debt    

Debt and other long-term financial obligations should be obtained at the best possible debt rating, 
which is favorably maintained through prudent financial management. It may include but is not 
limited to the following:    

A. General obligation bonds – These represent a commitment to fund debt service payments from 
property taxes and require voter approval and Board of Trustee approval. 

B. Revenue bonds – These represent a commitment to fund debt service payments from a specific 
non-property tax revenue source, such as sales tax, and require voter approval in addition to 
Board of Trustee approval for all government-related activities. 

C. Sale / Lease back financing - These represent a commitment by the District to fund a non-
binding lease with an outside authority. The lease payments are made from unrestricted funds.  

(unassigned, assigned, or committed funds). A source of unrestricted revenue must be identified to 
ensure that future lease payments can be made without interruption. 

D. Lease/purchase agreements - These represent a general commitment to fund payments from 
District revenues. Lease/purchase agreements require voter approval under the TABOR 
Amendment unless appropriate  annual termination terms are included. The only leases the 

ATTACHMENT A

14



   
 

10 
 

District is allowed to enter are for equipment such as printers, copiers, postage machine, etc. 
where the specified vendors have approved the annual termination term in the lease 
agreement. 
   

V. Refunding Factors    

The debt portfolio will be monitored jointly semi-annually by the Executive Library Director and the 
Finance Manager for refunding opportunities. Refunding will be used when legally allowable and 
when any of the following conditions are present: 

A. Significant savings may be achieved.  
B. Anticipated revenues call for a change in the debt service structure.  
C. When the District may desire a change in a bond covenant. 

  
VI. Arbitrage Compliance      

Arbitrage occurs when the funds received from a bond are reinvested at a higher interest rate than 
paid to the bond investors. Taxes must be paid on any profits derived by the District from such 
reinvestment. Reports are required for each bond  issue date. The Executive Library Director will 
contract with an arbitrage compliance consulting firm when necessary.  

  

ATTACHMENT A

15



11 

Purchasing Policy 
Policy 

This policy defines the Boulder Public Library District’s (District) practices for purchases of 
supplies, materials, equipment, or services. The Finance Manager shall be the central purchasing 
agency through which requests for the purchase of all library materials and operational items are 
routed and by which they are accounted. No employee shall incur any expense or debt against the 
District without adhering to the provisions of this policy. The District shall not be responsible for any 
expense or debt incurred by employees not authorized to act under this policy.  

I. Basis for Purchasing

Purchases are made based on price, quality, service, availability, and other pertinent factors 
considered to be in the best interest of the District.  

A. Preference for Local and State Purchases
1. When possible, local, and state vendors will be considered before vendors outside of

Boulder County and the State of Colorado.
2. There may be times when local and state vendors with similar skills may not have the

expertise or experience sought by the District, and in those cases, vendors outside of
Boulder County and the State of Colorado may be selected.

3. When the District is working with vendors or other professionals located outside of the
District's area of service, those vendors will be expected to make every effort to ensure
that when hiring subcontractors, state and local vendors are given priority and the
opportunity to bid the work.

4. Staff authorized by the Library Director to lead procurement processes will ensure that
potential vendors are treated fairly and professionally throughout the process.

B. Preference will be given to Minority, Woman-Owned, and Disadvantaged Business
Enterprises when possible.

II. Prohibited Purchases

The District will not knowingly purchase any supplies, materials, equipment, or services from: 

A. Members of the Board of Trustees of the Boulder Public Library District or someone with
whom they share a financial interest.

B. Employees of the Boulder Public Library District except as reflected in the adopted
employment policies.

C. Family members of employees except as permitted by this policy as an independent
contractor.

D. Firms or enterprises in which any of the above individuals have a personal stake
involving ownership, partnership, sales commission, or other direct and immediate gain
resulting from such purchase.

E. A former board member or employee, within six months following the termination of his
or her service on the Board or employment.

ATTACHMENT A

16



12 

III. Exceptions

This policy does not prohibit the purchase of any supplies, materials, equipment, or services from 
the above individuals when: 

A. A Board member or someone with whom they share a financial interest, when the Board
member has disclosed the personal interest on the Board of Trustees conflict of interest
form, has not voted thereon, has refrained from attempting to influence the decision of
the Board of Trustees in voting on the matter, and the contract is awarded to the  bidder
in accordance with the competitive bid process in sections IV and V of this policy; or

B. Due to geographic restrictions, additional cost to the District is greater than ten percent
of a contract with an interested party or if the contract is for services that must be
performed within a limited period and no other contractor can provide those services
within that period.

IV. Competitive Bids

Major operational items and services including capital items and construction projects anticipated 
to cost more than $50,000 each, will be purchased through a competitive bid process. Purchases 
shall be made from the most responsible vendor whose bid is the most advantageous to the 
District, considering price, quality, date of delivery, and other pertinent factors. 

A. The Library Director or their authorized designee shall publish a notice of the proposed
purchase on the library’s website or in a newspaper within Boulder County.

B. The prospective bidders must be given at least ten (10) days to supply their bid.
C. Bids shall be submitted by email to the Library Director and/or their authorized

designee.
D. The Library Director may repeatedly reject all bids and again may submit to the same, or

other persons, firms, or corporations the request for bid, and/or again publish notice of
the proposed purchase at their discretion.

E. The Library Director or their authorized designee shall analyze the acceptable bids
received.

F. For purchases between $50,000.00 and $100,000 the Library Director or their
authorized designee shall select the bid that is most advantageous to the District.

G. For purchases of $100,000.01 or more, the Library Director will recommend the vendor
who has submitted the most responsive, responsible, and best bid to the Board of
Trustees.

H. Final decision to purchase items or service of more than $100,000 shall be made by the
Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees reserves the right to reject any or all bids, and
to waive any technicalities or formalities.

I. In the event of a tie bid, the purchase may be made from one of those tying, or the
purchase may be divided among those tying, always accepting the bid or bids most
advantageous to the District.

J. Contractual services of a professional nature such as engineering, architectural, legal,
medical, insurance, janitorial and certified public accounting, etc. shall be requested
for bids at least every three (3) years.

ATTACHMENT A

17



13 

K. The Library Director or their authorized designee shall review all contracts at least
annually, and depending on vendor performance, shall submit a recommendation
regarding extension, renewal, cancellation or rebidding to the Board of Trustees.

L. All contracts in force for three consecutive years that exceed $100,000 in any one year
shall be subject to rebidding at the end of the third year unless this requirement is
waived by the Board of Trustees.

V. Exceptions for Obtaining Competitive Bids

The following may be purchased without giving opportunity for competitive bidding: 

A. When excused by participation in a purchasing program under the auspices of the State
of Colorado or other governmental entity or through a cooperative purchasing
organization such as Omnia Partners or Sourcewell.

B. A Single or Sole Justification is approved.
C. Items or services described in section II and III of this policy.
D. Library materials, e.g., books, periodicals, audiovisual materials, etc., purchased at the

best discount available consistent with service, date of delivery, and other pertinent
factors.

E. Electronic resources, e.g., information databases, streaming media, audio- or e-books,
are purchased at the best discount available consistent with service, date of delivery,
and other pertinent factors.

F. Services, supplies, materials, or equipment which can be furnished only by a single
vendor, or which have a uniform price wherever bought.

G. Services, supplies, materials, or equipment purchased from another unit of government
or non-profit agency at a price deemed below that obtainable from private dealers.

H. Services (gas, electricity, telephone services, etc.) purchased from a public utility at a
price or rate determined by the State Public Utilities or other government authority.

I. Where proposed equipment, and/or services vary to the extent that formal bids are not
practical, detailed proposals may be accepted in lieu of such bids.

J. Advertising (employment, bid advertisements, etc.)
K. Employee benefit payments – medical, dental, life, long term disability insurance, etc.
L. Professional development classes and conference, seminar, workshop registration and

fees
M. Employee reimbursements.
N. Fees for banking, filing taxes, titles, and licenses, etc.
O. Grant pass-thru payments.
P. Insurance premium payments.
Q. Membership dues or fees.
R. Postage.
S. Business travel airfare, bus, train tickets, etc.
T. Lodging, meals, and refreshments during business travel.

VI. Emergency Purchases

ATTACHMENT A

18



   
 

14 
 

In an emergency as determined by the Library Director, that requires swift action, when no regular 
or emergency Board of Trustees meeting is scheduled or practical under the situation, the Library 
Director may contract to handle the emergency; with all reasonable efforts to advise individual 
Board Members of the emergency action having been taken.   

 

   

 

 

  
  

ATTACHMENT A

19



15 

Travel and Business Meal Policy 
Policy 

The Boulder Public Library District (District) pays or reimburses the cost of certain travel and 
meeting expenses incurred by employees and Board of Trustee members during their work with the 
District. These expenses must be related to the conduct of official business or attendance at 
professional meetings, conferences or training sessions that promote overall job knowledge or 
professional certifications required for the employee’s job or the trustee’s role to be considered for 
payment. All such expenditures should be reasonable and necessary.  

For travel-related expenditures to be considered for payment or reimbursement, adequate 
appropriations must be available, the expenditures must be properly authorized in advance and the 
employee or trustee must comply with this policy. 

Non-Reimbursable Expenditures 

The District will not reimburse the following expenditures: 

A. Alcohol
B. Entertainment
C. In-room movies
D. Use of hotel mini bars
E. Expenses of a personal nature
F. Upgrades or travel insurance
G. A non-employee travel partner’s expense.

ATTACHMENT A

20



From: NoBo <noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com> 
Date: April 24, 2024 at 4:56:27 PM MDT 
To: Doug Hamilton <hamiltond@boulderlibrary.org> 
Cc: Marianne Gatten <mkgatten@gmail.com>, nicholascallais@yahoo.com, David Farnan 
<farnand@boulderlibrary.org>, Sam Fuqua <fuquas@boulderlibrary.org> 
Subject: Re: NoBo Branch library 

 
Hi David, Doug, and Sam, 
 
Thank you for showing us the new library, answering our questions, and talking through our 
safety concerns. We learned a lot and are grateful for your thoughtful approach to creating 
a safe space for all. Attached are our notes from the meeting. Please review them and let 
us know your thoughts, especially with regard to the opportunities of which we plan to 
actively pursue.   
 
We look forward to collaborating with you and please feel free to reach back with any 
questions. Enjoy the rest of your week! 
 
Best, 
Julie, Marianne, and Nick 
North Boulder Alliance 
 
On Thu, Apr 18, 2024 at 1:05 PM Doug Hamilton <hamiltond@boulderlibrary.org> wrote: 
Hi Julie,  
 
I appreciate the additional information. Sam, David, and I will meet you at the North 
entrance to the library.  We will have hard hats ready for you and then we will go inside. You 
will get a sneak preview of the new space.  It is an active construction site, so, we will need 
to keep out of the way of the workers.  
 
If the weather is not too bad, we will be able to also walk around outside and show you 
which areas are under the Library's responsibility.  
 
If you need to get a hold of me for some reason, my number is 720-258-5916.  
 
See you tomorrow.  
Doug  
President, Boulder Library Board of Trustees  
  

 
From: NoBo <noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com> 
Sent: Thursday, April 18, 2024 11:21 AM 
To: Doug Hamilton <hamiltond@boulderlibrary.org>; Marianne Gatten <mkgatten@gmail.com>; 

21

mailto:noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com
mailto:hamiltond@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:mkgatten@gmail.com
mailto:nicholascallais@yahoo.com
mailto:farnand@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:fuquas@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:hamiltond@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com
mailto:hamiltond@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:mkgatten@gmail.com


nicholascallais@yahoo.com <nicholascallais@yahoo.com> 
Cc: David Farnan <farnand@boulderlibrary.org>; Sam Fuqua <fuquas@boulderlibrary.org> 
Subject: Re: NoBo Branch library  
  
Hi Doug,  
 
We are looking forward to the meeting tomorrow at the new NoBo library branch at 
11:00am. Marianne Gatten and Nick Callais will also be joining as representatives of the 
North Boulder Alliance. What's the best way for us to access the new library?  
 
At the meeting, we'd like to see the space, ask questions, and discuss ideas about how 
to make the library a welcoming, safe, and accessible resource for the neighborhood 
kids by walking or biking on the multi-use paths. Below is a brief description of the North 
Boulder Alliance. 
 
Summary 

The North Boulder Alliance is a group of families, homeowners, renters, and small 
business owners who are passionate about NoBo and the vibrant and equitable 
community that it is today. We strive to address the various social, safety, and 
environmental issues that impact the well-being of our community. Rooted in the belief 
that working together starts with transparency and fairness, we aim to create positive 
change and foster a connected and thriving community. 

Mission 

The mission of the North Boulder Alliance is to advocate for a safe, walkable, and 
thriving community as envisioned in the North Boulder Sub Community Plan. We are 
committed to: 

• Amplifying Voices: We amplify the voices of residents and businesses, 
particularly when they are overlooked.  

• Advocating for Needs: We ask for what we need and create a community where 
decisions are strategic and collaborative. 

• Collaborating for Impact: We believe in working together with other organizations, 
community leaders, businesses, and government agencies to achieve greater 
results. 

• Building Community Resilience: We strengthen community resilience by fostering 
connections, providing support and mutual aid among community members. 

• Creating Sustainable Solutions: We are committed to finding sustainable 
solutions to complex challenges. We prioritize the long-term well-being of our 
residents and businesses. 

 
 
Thank you, 
Julie Ireland 
 

22

mailto:nicholascallais@yahoo.com
mailto:nicholascallais@yahoo.com
mailto:farnand@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:fuquas@boulderlibrary.org
https://nam12.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Furl.us.m.mimecastprotect.com%2Fs%2FynoUCqxqX3crg5SZ2DVQ%3Fdomain%3Dbouldercolorado.gov&data=05%7C02%7Cseatonc%40boulderlibrary.org%7C6ea4bcf5fa504dee252e08dc64b64d06%7C27af7e30203543c6b9eb3dedee288654%7C0%7C0%7C638495981875397434%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=7JfJsGEgk%2FUsKfJK%2B%2BEPAnS9kpdR8wyK%2F3QCFv3FqtY%3D&reserved=0


On Mon, Apr 8, 2024 at 3:35 PM NoBo <noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com> wrote: 
Hi Doug,  
 
Friday, April 19 at 11:00am works fine for me. I'll see you, David, and Sam at the new NoBo 
branch. Thank you! 
 
Best, 
Julie 
 
On Mon, Apr 8, 2024 at 10:30 AM Doug Hamilton <hamiltond@boulderlibrary.org> wrote: 
Hi Julie,  
 
Sam, David, and I will be happy to meet with you. Would you be available to meet on April 
19th from 11-12 at the NEW NoBO library location? 
 
Thanks...Doug Hamilton, Trustee 

 
From: Joni Teter <teterj@boulderlibrary.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, March 26, 2024 2:14 PM 
To: noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com <noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com> 
Cc: trustees@boulderlibrary.org <trustees@boulderlibrary.org>; David Farnan 
<farnand@boulderlibrary.org>; Jennifer Phares <pharesj@boulderlibrary.org>; Celia Seaton 
<seatonc@boulderlibrary.org> 
Subject: NoBo Branch library  
  
Hi, Julie -   
 
Thank you for your questions about plans for the NoBo branch library. The dedicated 
funding provided through the library district vote has made it possible to have security 
people present in all branches (which was not the case before).  A security person is 
included in the budget for the NoBo branch.   
Public libraries are available to all, so entry will not be tied to a library card access 
key.Thank you for reaching out with your concerns.  
 
Library staff have been working closely with city staff from multiple departments through 
all phases of the NoBo branch's design and construction, and that close collaboration 
continues now that we are a district. I know that there has been discussion about the 
importance of public access through the Rosewood underpass, especially for children 
accessing the library from the west side of Broadway, but I don't know if any specific plans 
have yet been made.   
 
The only property that will be managed by the library is the land immediately surrounding 
the branch, including the play area.  The plaza, bike path, underpass, and park are all City 
of Boulder property and will be under the City's jurisdiction.  That said, City staff and 

23

mailto:noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com
mailto:hamiltond@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:teterj@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com
mailto:noboadvocacygroup@gmail.com
mailto:trustees@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:trustees@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:farnand@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:pharesj@boulderlibrary.org
mailto:seatonc@boulderlibrary.org


Boulder police have been very cooperative in working with library staff on issues in the 
Civic Area and around Main, and we anticipate that these cooperative relationships will 
continue at NoBo. 
 
I will share your request for a meeting with Trustees at our next Board meeting (April 2nd) 
and we will get back to you after that meeting with a response. 
 
Joni Teter, President 
Boulder Public Library District Board of Trustees 
 
 
 

 

24



Meeting Boulder Public Library District and North Boulder Alliance 
Date: April 19, 2024 
Attendees Doug Hamilton (Library Trustee), Sam Fuqua (Library Trustee), and David Farnan 
(Library Director) and NBA - Marianne Gatten, Julie Ireland, and Nick Callais 
 
The group toured the new facility. Grand opening is scheduled for June 29, 2024. Hours of 
operation: M-H 9:00 am to 7:00 pm, F 9:00 am to 6:00 pm, Sat 10:00 am – 5:00 pm, Sun 12:00 
pm – 5:00 pm. NOBO library Branch Manager is Celine Cooper – cooperc@boulderlibrary.org 
 
THINGS WE LEARNED: 
Overall, it’s a beautiful and well thought out space that is modern, bright, and open. It has a 
maker’s space that will host a resident artist and workshops, a dedicated Boulder Reads room, 
meeting rooms for the community to reserve, a sound wall and ramp to the second level, a 
playground with a large slide, etc. Spanish speakers will be on site. 
 

● 3 entrances to library (main level North, upper-level North, and playground main level 
south)  

● Building is leased from the city including the parking lot and playground. 
● They anticipate friction between the unhoused community, residents, and staff. Calls to 

BPD will probably be a regular occurrence. 
● Offered to create a space in the library for a police substation but could not meet space 

requirements.  
● Asking the neighborhood residents to claim the space by using it regularly. 
● Gated (with lock) access for Boulder Meadows. BM asked to be able to lock the gate as 

needed to stop people from entering their neighborhood. 
 
Safety Designs and Protocols Reviewed for NOBO Library (safety feature – response) 

● Card entry: No card required to enter the building. 
● Security: There will be a security guard there during library hours and the staff is trained 

to handle difficult situations. There will be cameras all over the property. There will be no 
nighttime security patrols or social workers. 

● Keyed access to the bathrooms. Yes, keyed access for one person at a time, family 
bathroom is for parents and children only, monitoring alert system to detect vaping, more 
than one person, drug use, etc. 

● Children’s area and playground: They considered a fence around the playground but 
decided not to install one. The children’s library area is open with no barrier to the main 
space. 

● Outdoor property cleaning: The property will be cleaned daily. 
● Bike racks: Plan to install 10 -12 of the integral bike locking system. Also, there will be 

bike locks available to check out if someone forgets to bring one and the locking system 
is full. 

● Computer access: Time limit is 90 minutes, and the open layout is designed to keep the 
monitors in view of the staff.  

● Personal item restriction: Personal item restrictions are in place, no carts or wheelchairs 
that function as carts will be allowed. 

● Patron suspensions and bans: Suspension and ban procedures are in place and there 
are classifications associated with timeframes. 

● Safety metrics (# of police calls/interaction tracking log): Not discussed. 
● Rosewood underpass: The library staff will monitor the underpass and call Inquire 

Boulder as needed. This area is the City’s responsibility. 

25



 
OPPORTUNITIES: 

● Reconsider a fence around the playground to keep non-parents out and stop the 
children from running into the bike path or to the creek. 

● Consider a half wall barrier between the children’s and main area (the exit is very close 
and this could minimize children wandering outside). 

● Partner to ask for a police sub-station in NoBo. 
● Partner to require the City (SAMPS) and BPD to prioritize the Rosewood underpass and 

library property, implement a zero-tolerance encampment and immediate removal policy, 
keep the creek bed clean of debris, and have regular night time patrols. 

● Help with neighborhood (residents) community engagement efforts.  
● Hold NBA meetings at the NOBO library and continue engagement with Branch 

Manager 

26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64


	Agenda
	Draft 4.2.24 Minutes
	Memo: Library Finance Policy Final Review 
	Attachment A: Boulder Public Library District Finance Policies
	Trustee Matters: NoBo
	Legal Status Report



